Lieutenant General
Claude T. Bowers

Lieutenant General Claude T. Bowers, Adjutant General, and Distinguished North Carolinian was born on 18 July 1899 in Warrenton. He was the youngest of thirteen children. Educated in the public schools, Bowers entered NC State College (now University) and began his military career in the Army, entering the Student Army Training Corps (SATC) on 1 November 1918. Owing to the Armistice that ended World War I, this organization was deactivated, and Claude was discharged on 6 December.
In the early fall of 1919, the National Guard underwent reorganization, and the Adjutant General MG Beverly Royster, who was succeeded the following year by MG John Van B. Metts, were instrumental in these changes within the state. The sixth unit in the NCNG to be Federally Recognized was Company G, First Infantry, out of Warrenton, on 18 February 1921. It was on this very day that PVT Claude T. Bowers began his incredible journey with the North Carolina National Guard that would span nearly fifty years in uniform. Later that same year, Bowers’ Company G was redesignated Company B, 120th Infantry Regiment.
As an infantryman, Bowers trained hard, and developed great skill in marksmanship, a pursuit he cultivated throughout his career, earning many awards at National Matches. Claude rose through the ranks quickly, and soon became First Sergeant of his company. On 20 June 1923, Bowers was received his commission as a Second Lieutenant, Infantry. On 9 June 1924, rose to First Lieutenant, and on 9 October of that year, was promoted Captain, taking command of Company B. Under his leadership and example, a rivalry developed between Company B and Company E out of Concord, competing for the yearly Marksmanship Trophy. Fighting it out each summer on the old mosquito range at Camp Glenn in Morehead City, and later at Camp Jackson in Columbia, CPT Bowers’ led his unit to victory, year after year. 
On 24 June 1925, CPT Bowers married Miss Hattie Connell. They had one daughter, Mary Connell Bowers Betts, and ultimately, two grandchildren. During the periods of his active duty service, Hattie took on the great responsibility of carrying on the civilian business of Claude’s, which was the distribution of petroleum products. She met this duty with the acumen of a trained executive.
During the latter inter-war years, promotions in the army came slowly, and even more slowly in the National Guard.  It wasn’t until 22 March 1938 that Claude was promoted to Major, and took command of 1st battalion, 120th infantry. Despite this promotion, Company B held a very special place in his heart. It was through his determination, persistence and influence, that he was able to convince the County Commissioners of Warren to provide funding with which to construct an armory for that unit. It was this very same persistence and determination that would enable the construction of many more armories statewide in the late 1950’s. 
With war clouds looming, Major Bowers took over as S3 of the 120th Infantry in May 1940. 16 September 1940, the 30th Infantry Division was called to active Federal Service, and embarked for training at Camp Jackson and soon participated in both the Louisiana Maneuvers as well as the Carolina Maneuvers.  While taking the three month Battalion Commander and Staff Officer Course at the Infantry School, he was promoted to Lieutenant Colonel, and soon assumed command of 2nd Battalion, 120th. That command lasted only a month, as he was ordered to be the S3, 60th Brigade, serving in that capacity until the following year when he was given command of 1st Battalion, 120th. 
It was during this early period of Federalized service that the so-called “Purge of the 30th Division” occurred.  MG Russell fought a good fight, but it was predetermined that few, if any National Guardsmen would hold command above that of battalion, and the Regulars would assume command. MG Russell was soon replaced as Commander, 30th Infantry Division, by MG “Baldy” Simpson. Simpson went on to command the Ninth US Army on the European continent during the war, being succeeded in command of the 30th by MG Leland Hobbs.
In July 1942, Bowers was assigned to the 117th Infantry Regiment, and soon the unit embarked for the Infantry School at Benning as a Demonstration Regiment. Performing so well, this unit remained in that capacity for several months more than originally ordered.
It was during the summer of 1943 that LTC Bowers was assigned to 16th Infantry Regiment, 1st Infantry Division. This unit soon debarked the States for combat in the Mediterranean. During this period, Bowers served in various assignments, in the Med, the British Isles and the European continent. LTC Bowers took advantage of opportunities to gather war trophies from the fields of battle, many of which are now on display in the atrium of the Joint Force Headquarters in Raleigh, NC. Later, as Executive Officer of the 3rd Reinforcement Depot, he was awarded the Legion of Merit Medal. 
After the cessation of hostilities in Europe, Bowers was promoted to Colonel, AUS, on 26 July 1945. As a high-points soldier, and recipient of the Combat Infantryman’s Badge, Claude returned to the States that Fall, to be separated from active duty on 15 January 1946.
COL Bowers was quickly selected to command the 119th Infantry Regiment. After years of war, America was more than ready to get back to “normalcy.” Interest in things military, not to mention the morale of his new command were at its nadir. With the massive drawdowns of the military in the post-war world, and the decrease in budgets, COL Bowers, traveled over 17,000 miles in his own car, at his own expense in order to get his regiment organized. During this period, the 30th Infantry Division was split between Tennessee and North Carolina. With further reductions and cutbacks, this would soon evolve into a struggle for custody of the now famous Old Hickory Division. 
The 1950’s saw extraordinary changes for the North Carolina National Guard. First, COL Bowers was selected to be Chief of Staff, 30th Infantry Division in July 1951. On 24 November 1952, Bowers was Federally Recognized as a Brigadier General, and was assigned to the position of Assistant Division Commander, 30th Infantry Division.
The 30th Infantry Division became North Carolina’s own on 28 October 1954, having been separated from its partnership with Tennessee. On 6 December 1954, Bowers received federal recognition of his promotion to Major General of the Line, and command of the famed “Old Hickory” Division.
In 1956, Chief of NGB selected MG Bowers to serve on the General Staff Committee on National Guard Policy. Additionally, and closer to home, he served on the NC Armory Commission. Determined that our NCARNG should have improved armory facilities, he was largely responsible for the $450,000 appropriation by the 1957 NC General Assembly. 
[bookmark: _GoBack]It was at this time that MG Bowers was among four others that were the first to receive the newly created North Carolina Distinguished Service Medal, the highest award the NCARNG can award.
MG Bowers announced his plans to retire in the spring of 1959. It was around this time that it was publicly announced that there would be another major reorganization of the Guard in order to create the “Pentomic Division.” This meant that a division would have five battle groups instead of three regiments.
During Annual Training at FT Bragg June 1959, 9,400 Guardsmen Passed in Review and Governor Luther Hodges awarded Bowers the National Guard’s Distinguished Service Medal. MG Bowers went into the briefest retirement ever known. After much insistence, Governor Terry Sanford convinced MG Bowers to return to duty, appointing him as TAG, and being sworn in on 1 February 1961. General Bowers would remain in that position until 1970, and participate in the inauguration of three NC governors.
Owing to his intense lobbying and determination, in 1961, General Bowers convinced state leaders that it was essential to the future of the NC Guard that a Headquarters befitting the state be constructed, replacing the aging structures that at Camp Butner that house the NC Guard for so many years. On 27 August 1965 that the North Carolina Military Center was finally dedicated and opened for operations. Covering 38 acres, consisting of 166,384 total square feet of buildings (Claude T. Bowers building accounted for 75,000 of these sq ft) including a drill hall, offices for the Guard’s administrative personnel, as well as maintenance shops.
After nearly fifty years of service, January 1970 saw the official retirement of MG Claude T. Bowers. The governor breveted him a Lieutenant General, and he was presented with the Legion of Merit. He and Hattie returned to Warrenton. Not one to rest, Claude ran for the office of County Commissioner, and easily won the election. Owing to his declining health, Claude resigned as Chairman of the County Commissioners in October 1975.
In 1981, the 75,000 sq ft administration building and the North Carolina Military Center was dedicated to him in a huge ceremony. It was named the Claude T. Bowers National Guard Center. No one in the state’s history has had such an enduring impact on the direction and success of the NCARNG, and no one could be more deserving of such an honor and memorialization.
Restricted by arthritis, and diagnosed with prostate cancer, Claude passed from this earth on 12 September 1989, at 90 years of age. He now rests in peace at Elmwood Cemetery in Henderson, NC.

                                                                                                                                           SGT Gary C. Spencer
NCNG Museum Curator
